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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

OLZIE PERRY,
P aintiff,

V. Civil Action No. 09-1149(ESH)

e N N TN N N

ERIC K. SHINSEKI,
Secretary, United States Department )
of VeteransAffairs

N\ v N

Defendant.

)
MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Olzie Perry was not promoted tcetposition of Chief of Operations of the
National Cemetery Administratn, Memorial Programs Service (“Service”), and now sues her
long-time employer, the United States Depemt of Veterans Affairs (“VA”), alleging
discrimination on the basis of race and genderatation of Title VII ofthe Civil Rights Act of
1964, 42 U.S.C. 88 200@ seq(“Title VII”), and discrimination on the basis of age in
violation of the Age Discrimination iemployment Act of 1967, 29 U.S.C. 88 6&lseq.
(“ADEA"). The VA has moved for summary judgment. For the reasons set forth below, the
VA’s motion will be granted.

BACKGROUND

FACTUAL HISTORY

Perry, a 51-year old African-American wonmabegan her career with the VA in 1986, as
a secretary. (Def.’s Statement of Material B4tSOMF”] 11 1, 3.) She currently works as a

Program Analyst (a GS-13 levedsition) in the Service, subdivision of the VA’s National

! The ages given for all relevant persons are aseadidite of the employment action at issue in the case.
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Cemetery Administration.Id.  2.) Before joining the VA, ghspent less than a year in the
armed forces, before being discharged because of an injdryf] 49; Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J.,
Ex. 9, Supp. Dep. of Olzie L. Perry [Supp. Perry Dep.], at 13.)

The period relevant to this case beginkate 2000, when Perry was reporting to David
Schettler, the Acting Director die Service. (Pl.’s Opp’n to D& Mot. for Summ. J. [Pl.’s
Opp’n], Ex. 1, Decl. of Olzie Perry [‘Perry Decl.”] 1 7.) Perry worked as a Supervisory
Management & Program Analyst at the timéd.)( One of Perry’s duties was to interview
candidates for a position as a programs analyst.f(10.) Although th@osition apparently
reported to Perryid. 1 11), the duties were that a staff assistant to Sdktler. (Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex.
24, Dep. of Lindee Lenox [‘Lenox Dep.], at 62.) rievas told by Schettler that Don Murphy, a
Site Supervisor with the Service, had kggbfor the position and should be consideredPerry
Decl. 117, 11.) Perry did not believe he émiewed well,” but Schettler recommended Murphy
as “a good person for the job.1d( 11-12.) Perry hired Murphy, based on this
recommendation.ld. { 13.) After eight months, Sdiler promoted Murphy to Program
Specialist. Id. 1 15.)

In June 2001, Schettler hiredndee Lenox as the Chief of Options. (Perry Decl. | 16;
Lenox Dep. at 71.) Perry had also applied for the job but was not liRedry Decl. § 16.)

After Lenox became Chief, Perry began workingedily for Schettler as a Quality Assurance
and Improvement Specialistld( 17.) She worked in this capacity from December 2002 until
March 2005. Id.) In March 2005, she went to workrfoenox, who had replaced Schettler as
the Director of the Serviceld(  18.) Lenox’s promotion created a vacancy at the position of

Chief of Operations. Id.)

2 Schettler had supervised Murphy from the late ‘90s until 2000 or 2001. (Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 22, Dep. of David
Schettler [*Schettler Dep.”], at 18.). Schettler testified teathought Murphy was “a good man,” and that he didn’t
want to “lose him” to another agencyld.(at 21.)



On December 9, 2005, Perry met with Lenox, a 52-year old Caucasian woman (Pl.’s
Opp’n, Ex. 21, Agency’s Mot. for Summ. J.,49t for her annual performance review. (Supp.
Perry Dep. at 153; Perry Def120.) During the review, Perrngentioned to Lenox that she
planned on applying for the Chief position. (Pdbdscl. § 20.) According to Perry, Lenox asked
“when are you going to retireXPerry Dep. at 153.) When Perry asked Lenox why she wanted
to know, Lenox replied “no particular reasoh(Perry Decl. ] 20.)

In February 2006, Perry, who was 51 at theetiapplied for a position as the Chief of
Operations Program Analysidfi@er (a GS-14 level position) in the Cemetery Administration.
(SOMF 1 3.) Rhonika Howard, a membettw Administration’s human resources offfce,
reviewed the various applicatiofe the position and determinéuat Perry and six others were
minimally qualified. (d. 1 4.) Howard was only involved fmis part of the selection process
and took no part afterward until Lenox formadiglected Murphy. (Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 23, Dep. of
Rhonika Howard [*Howard Dep."4t 60.) The applications wetleen passed on to Schettler,
who Lenox picked as a “subject matter expariti who was asked to rank the candidates’
written responses. (SOMF5; Schettler Dep. at 22.) Tharties do not dispute Schettler's
method for ranking — assigning points for responses to questions according to “Factor Quality
Level” criteria (SOMF | 5) although Perry alleges he “inteanally downgraded” her scores.
(Pl.’s Resp. to Def.’s Undisputed Facts [‘PRsesp.”] 1 5.) Schettler arrived at four “best
gualified” candidates: Murphy (Caucasian malge 41), Perry (African-American female, age

51), Gina White (Caucasian female, age 42}, \&anza Lewis (African-American female, age

3 Perry’s 2005 performance review, given on June 10, 2005, noted that she attendegméReRlanning
Seminar” as part of her training. (Pl.'s Opp’n, Ex. 3, 2005 Performance Appraisal Program [V200p & 7.)

* The parties dispute Howard’s exact title, althougtelffidavit lists it as “Management & Program Analyst.”
(Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J., Aff. of Rhonika Howard [“Howard Aff.”] T 1.
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51). (Pl's Opp’n at 7.) $ettler awarded Murphy 23 point&/hite 21 points, Lewis 17 points,
and Perry 21 points. (Def.’s MoEx. C, Schettler Rankings, at 2.)

Perry and the other three candidates wereititerviewed by a thieeperson panel, made
up of Jimma Elliott-Stevens (38 years old, African-American, female), Deanna Wilson (50 years
old, Caucasian, female) and GeoEjsenbach (48 years old, Cas@n, male). (SOMF { 11.)
Lenox picked the members of the pan&@edPl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 25, Dep. of Jimma Elliott-Stevens
[“Elliott-Stevens Dep.”] at 25.) Lenox did notquide the panel with thapplication packets or
other supplemental matesaior the candidatesld( at 20.) Howard testified that it was the
“practice” to “provide [packetdjpr all interviews.” (Howard Dep. at 103.) Elliott-Stevens
testified that it was “strange” not to have thackage, but that “even when | have the
applications, quite honestly, | dameview them the way other ple do.” (Elliott-Stevens Dep.
at 20.) Eisenbach testified that having thekages would have saved “much needed time” by
allowing the panel to skip “extract[ing]” éhinformation from the candidates during the
interview. (Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 26, Dep. of Gmye Eisenbach [‘Eisenbach Dep.”] at 28.)

Elliott-Stevens testified that Murphy was thiely candidate she was familiar with prior
to the interview, and that “going into thenad, he was the person that [she] was probably
rooting for, but just like any pahst should . . . , [she] based itlsty on the record.” (Elliott-
Stevens Dep. at 66.) She statieat Murphy “did not come across strong in the interview,” and
that “[i]f [she] had not known him... [she] may have been a littht more shocked” that he was
picked, but that she knew Hisork ethic and . . . what h&as doing before he got the

position[.]” (Id.) Elliott-Stevens also testified thstte had been concerned that one of the



guestions seemed too “specific” and thatewse White was the only one to answer the
question, she had assumed that “if thiseygreselection, it was for Gina Whitef]{ld. at 89.)

The panel awarded scores of 3573%,, and 35 to Perry. (Pl.'s Opp’n, Ex. 9.) Lewis
received scores of 43, 41/4and 38 (Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 10.) Murphy received scores of 41, 35,
and 34’ (Pl.’s Opp'n, Ex. 11.) White received scores of 43, 40, arid 4Bl.’s Opp'n, Ex. 12.)
Perry was the only candidate to receive a score for every response. The panel then submitted
averaged scores to Lewis for her reviewjmgpthat White’s averagwas 44.3, Lewis’s was 43,
Murphy’s was 38.2, and Perry’s was 36'8(PI.’s Opp’n, Ex. 13, at 4.)

The panel recommended that Lenox interview White and LEw(sl.) Eisenbach wrote
that, although he felt Lewis and White were liest candidates, all the candidates “were very
knowledgeable on the technical side” akd[€]w their contracting business.1d(at 1.)

However, he testified that he was “surpriséttt Lenox did not interview or hire White or

® Elliott-Stevens’s “shock” over Murphy being hired, which plaintiff refers to, was due to this initial assumption.
“[Nf this were preselection, it was for Gina White, whielgain, | — which is why | was so shocked that it was Don
Murphy that was actually selected.” (Elliott-Stevens Dep. at 89.)

® It is unclear, based on the photocopies provided, whether one of the numbers otherseafesheets is a 3 or a
5. (Pl’s Opp'n, Ex. 9, at 2.)

" Again, the photocopies make it unclear what score 4 esdgeived on one of the gtiess, although it is clear she
was awarded some points by the remains of a circled score on the left edge of the pagepp(RI.Bx010, at 4.)

& One of the panelists did not awarelwis points for one of her answers.
° One of the panelists did not award Murphy points for one of his answers.
19 One of the panelists did not award White any points for one of her answers.

1 Plaintiff denies thisgeePl.’s Resp. 1 14), but this denial does not comply with Local Civil Rule 7 because it is
not supported by a citation to record evidenSeelocal Civ. R. 7(h). Thus, plaintiff has not raised any genuine
issue with respect to this factual assertion by defendgee. Chavers v. Shinsg&b7 F. Supp. 2d 116, 129 n.7
(D.D.C. 2009).

2 The parties dispute whether the final, averaged panel scores contain significant tabutatior(Ref’'s. Mot. at

15; Pl.’'s Opp’n at 18 n.7.) Regardeof the specific score each party deserved, the three panel members reviewed
and agreed with the way the four &pants were ranked and the difference in points between each. (Pl.’s Opp'n,
Ex. 13.)



Lewis. (Eisenbach Dep. at 55.) Wilsonegpt that the candidategre all “technically
proficient,” although she felt thurphy did not have the “manament expertise or ease with
the situations that the others didyid that his answers were “ras strong . . . on several of the
questions.” (Pl’s Opp’n, Ex. 13, at 2.) Wilsemphasized that Lewis was “very impressive.”
(Id.). Perry concedes that nonetbé interview panelists disaninated against her. (SOMF
33; Pl.’s Resp. 1 33.)

On March 10, 2006, Lenox picked Murphy to be the Chief and issued a memorandum
listing the reasons why she chddarphy over the other applicantéPl.’s Opp’'n at 1; Pl.’s
Opp’n, Ex. 14, Lenox Memorandum [“Lenox Memo”]2) Lenox wrote that she had “personal
knowledge” of both White and Murphy, whom shkedked the “final top two candidates” based
on their combined scores. (Lenox Memo at 2.) Lenox praised Murphy’s “even temperament,”
“people skills,” “management style,” experienceghmvorking from a “remote location,” and his
“real world’ technical, supervary and communication skills.”Id.) She noted that he “ranked
number two” behind White, but criticized Whité¢'somewhat authoritaridrstyle and suggested
White would “benefit from further leadership experiencdd. &t 2-3.) Lenox noted that Lewis
lacked experience supervising work in a “remote” environment, and was not as well versed in the
“technical complexigs” of the job. Id.) Lenox did not mention Perry until the final paragraph
of her memo. Ifl.) She observed that Perry “was netommended” by the panel, “ranked
lowest” in the combined ratings, and had a mameaye style that was “not well suited” for the
jobX® (Id. at 3.)

Howard testified that it was “unusual” fire selecting official not to follow the

recommendation of the panel, libat “[ijt has happened.” @Wward Dep. at 108.) In addition,

13 Though Eisenbach expressed surprise that Lenox had selected Murphy, it was not because he thouast Perry
the best candidate. (Eisenbach Dep. at 54-55.) Rather, he had assumed that Lenoxenaetd White and
Lewis. (d.)



she testified that sHead never seen a similar memorandumwrite-up for a selectee during her
time in the HR department. (Howard Dep. at 118he also stated that she had never seen
scores from an interview panel added togethén thie scores from the subject matter expert.
(Id. at 99-100.) Howard testified that she vma$ surprised that Murphy had been selected,
based on her “observation” and “feeling thdidshad.” (Howard Dep. at 86.) However,
Howard conceded that Lenox had “made a selection from” the “best qualified” It 4t 113.)

Lenox admitted that the selection was a §véifficult decision” because she wanted
“personally” to do “everything | can to raise men into high-level positions,” and felt it was
“important for me to justify . . . pick[ingd man over a woman.” (Lenox Dep. at 140.) She
testified that she had difficulty picking someaneer White, who “was the top person on the
list” and received the highest rangmfrom the interview panelld( at 139-40.) Lenox denied
ever having the impression that Schettleaswoping” Murphy would be promotedd.(at
141.)

After Lenox selected Murphy, Schettler wrote Murphy an e-mail congratulating him.
(Pl’s Opp’n, Ex. 15.) The entire text of themail read: “Congratulations Don. It was only a
matter of time. It's well deserved and NCA will be well served with you in a higher leadership
position.” (d.)
Il. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Perry filed a formal complaint with the VA'Office of Resolution Management on June
12, 2006. (Def.’s Mot. Ex. F, Complaint of Employment Discrimination.) Her complaint stated
that she “believe[d] that [she] was significgritletter qualified for” the position “than the
younger white, male selected.ld(at 1.) The VA’s Office oEmployment Discrimination

Complaint Adjudication issued a Final AggnDecision on April 1, 2009, which found that



Perry “failed to produce any persuasive eviddimieng the actions of management . . . to her
race, sex and age.” (Def.’s Mot. Ex. G [“Fikadency Decision”] at 1.) Having exhausted her
administrative remedies, Perry filed the instamt s June 23, 2009. (Compl. § 3; Answer { 3.)
The VA now moves fosummary judgment.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

SUMMARY JUDGMENT

A motion for summary judgmeshall be granted “if thg@leadings, depositions, answers
to interrogatories, and admissionsfiv@, together with the affidats, if any, show that there is
No genuine issue as to any material fact, aatlttte moving party is entitled to judgment as a
matter of law.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inel77 U.S. 242, 247 (1986) (quoting Fed. R. Civ.
P. 56(c)). “A dispute about a material facha ‘genuine’ unless the ‘evidence is such that a
reasonable jury could return the verdict for the nonmoving partyaynes v. Williams392
F.3d 478, 481 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (quotiAmderson477 U.S. at 248). Thus, a moving party is
entitled to summary judgment “against ‘a gastho fails to make a showing sufficient to
establish the existence of an element essentthbtgarty’s case, arah which that party will
bear the burden of proof at trial.Waterhouse v. District of Columbia98 F.3d 989, 992 (D.C.
Cir. 2002) (quotingCelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986)).

As the non-moving party, Perry is “entitledttee benefit of all reasonable inferences
from the evidence,” and the evidence “is tosmved in the light most favorable to” her.
Talavera v. ShahNo. 09-5373, 2011 WL 1120285, at *2, *4.(D Cir. Mar. 29, 2011). The
non-moving party's opposition, however, must consist of more than mere unsupported
allegations or denials and mum& supported by affidavits or other competent evidence setting

forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for @elbtex 477 U.S. at 324; Fed.



R. Civ. P. 56(e). If the non-movant failsgoint to “affirmative eviénce” showing a genuine
issue for trial Anderson477 U.S. at 257, or “[i]f the evidencemerely colorable, or is not
significantly probative, summarygigment may be granted.” lat 249-50 (internal citations
omitted). “While summary judgment must be aggrhed with special caution in discrimination
cases, a plaintiff is not relieved of her obligatiorsupport her allegations by affidavits or other
competent evidence showing that there is a genuine issue for €ahbun v. JohnsqgmNo. 95-
CV-2397, 1998 WL 164780, at *3 (D.D.C. M&1, 1998) (internal citation omittedif'd No.
99-5126, 1999 WL 825425, at *1 (D.Cir. Sept. 27, 1999).
. CLAIMS UNDER TITLE VIl AND THE ADEA

Title VIl makes it unlawful for “an employer . . . to discriminate against any individual
with respect to his compensation, terms, coadgj or privileges of employment, because of
such individual’s race . . . [or] sex[.]42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2. The ADEA similarly makes it
“unlawful for an employer” to “discriminatagainst any individual with respect to his
compensation, terms, conditions, or privilegesmployment, because of such individual's age.”
29 U.S.C. § 623(a)(1). There are “two eleméntsaan employment discrimination case: (i) the
plaintiff suffered an adverse employment acfiidnbecause of the employee’s race, color,
religion, sex, or national origin.Brady v. Office of the Sergeant at A;rB20 F.3d 490, 493
(D.C. Cir. 2008). Perry “must prove both elemis to sustain a discrimination claimBaloch v.
Kempthorne550 F.3d 1191, 1196 (D.C. Cir. 2008).

Generally, plaintiffs may edtdish that their employer unldully took an adverse action
against them in two ways. The “mixed motive” frameworlPate Waterhouse v. Hopkiné90
U.S. 228 (1989), allows plaintiffs to show tleaprotected criteriowas a “motivating” or

“substantial” factoiin the decision.Johnson v. Holwayt39 F. Supp. 2d 180, 223 (D.D.C.



2006). Alternatively, undehe “pretext” or “single motive” framework éficDonnell Douglas
Corp. v. Greend411 U.S. 792 (1973), plaintiffs argue tiia¢ sole reason for the adverse action
was discrimination, and the employerfeoed justification was pretextuaNuskey v.
Hochberg 730 F. Supp. 2d 1, 3 (D.D.C. 2010). T™MeDonnell Douglagramework applies to
claims brought under Title VII and the ADE/Aee Carter v. George Washington Un887
F.3d 872, 878 (D.C. Cir. 2004).

A. Mixed-Motive Claims

The VA argues that Perry has brought suliélydbased on a single-motive theory and,
therefore, the standard for mixed motive claimsredevant to her Title VII claim. (Def.’s
Reply at 4 (citingsinger v. District of Columbigb27 F.3d 1340, 1345 (D.C. Cir. 2008)r)
Ginger, plaintiffs only presented evidence thagatimination was “a motivating factor” in the
employment action, despite “nevasntend[ing]” that they haa mixed-motive case. 527 F.3d at
1345-46. The Court held that plaintiffs haever argued that “race was one of multiple
motivating factors,” had only “broing a single-motive case” in which they argued that “race was
the sole reason for the reorganization,” anddfoee could not argue a mixed-motive case at
summary judgmentld. A plaintiff with a “good faithevidentiary basis for asserting both
theories,” may argue both “until after both sithese presented their cage the jury and the
Court has evaluated the evidenc®liiskey 730 F. Supp. 2d at 4. However, un@énger, a
single-motive claim doesot “encompass” a mixed-motive claim, as Perry seems to believe
(Pl’s Opp’n at 15).See Ginger527 F.3d at 1345-46See alsd-ord v. Mabus629 F.3d 198,
204, 207 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (plaintiffs can establislbility under § 633a othe ADEA in “one of
two ways”; district courwas “persuaded to apply a mixed4mes analysis” after first applying

McDonnell Douglas Perry’s complaint alleges that Lenox preferred Murphy and rejected Perry
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“because of” race, “because of” gender, anecduse of” age. (Compl. 1 40, 42, 45, 48.)
Moreover, Perry’s opposition brief focuses solely on the VA's justifications and does not present
evidence suggesting that race, gender, or agefaei@'s in the adverse action. Plaintiff has
neither alleged nor argued tlshte has a mixed motive clairBee Ginger527 F.3d at 1345.
The Court will therefore limit itanalysis to the single-motivilcDonnell Douglasramework**

B. The McDonnell Douglas Framework

In a disparate treatment case such as this one, where the employee has suffered an
adverse employment action and the employef'ésserted a legitimate, non-discriminatory
reason” for the action, thalistrict court “need not-and should net-decide whether the plaintiff
actually made out prima faciecase undeMcDonnell Douglas Brady, 520 F.3d at 492.
Instead, when deciding the employer’s motionsi@mmary judgment, the district court “must
resolve one central question™[h]as the employee produced sufficient evidence for a
reasonable jury to find that the employer’s aggenon-discriminatory reason was not the actual
reason and that the employer mtienally discriminated agaibthe employee on the basis of
race . .. sex” or age3ee id.Here, the parties do not dispuhat Perry suffered an adverse
employment action. Thus, the Court will fidetermine whether the VA has asserted a
legitimate reason for the action, then addtkes'central questiondf whether Perry has
produced sufficient evidence to establish both titVA’s reason was “not the actual reason”

andthat the VAintentionally discriminate@gainst her.

14" As plaintiff has failed to allege a mixed motive clathve Court need not considertimpact of a recent D.C.
Circuit opinion, in which the Court held that a plaintiff bringing a mixed motive claider the ADEA against a
federal employer could prevail simply “by proving that age was a factor in the employer’s dedisioth. 629

F.3d at 206. The VA appears to agree with PerryRbed “of course affects Plaintiff'®urden of proof in this
action with respect to her ADEA claim.” é’s Reply at 4.) The Court disagreé=ord only used the “age was
factor” test to examine the phdiff's mixed-motive claim.See idat 204 (the district court wrongly applied a “but-
for” standard after being “persuaded to apply a mixed-motives analysis’Fordsnakes clear, thieicDonnell
Douglasframework still applies in single-motive cases brought under the AD&Aat 201-03.
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ANALYSIS

EVIDENTIARY ISSUES

A. Concession By Perry

The VA suggests that because Perry stdtatiLenox should have selected the “top
recommendation of the panel,” and becauseyReas not the panel’s top recommendation, that
Perry has essentially conceded that she shouldave been hired. (Def.’s Mot. at 12.)
Defendant does not explain why tlaidmission is “dispositive.”ld.) The relevant question for
the Court is whether plaintiffas submitted evidence to prove that the VA’s stated reasons for
preferring Murphy are pretext atiohit the VA intentionally discminated against Perry. Perry’s
subjective views on the hiring process arghee dispositive nor even relevarbee, e.g.
Waterhouse v. District of Columbi@24 F. Supp. 2d 1, 7 (D.D.C. 2000) (plaintiff's “perception”
of herself or her work pesfmance is not relevangprogated on other grounds by Mastro v.
Potomac Elec. Power Ca447 F.3d 843, 850 (D.C. Cir. 2006).

B. EEOC Evidence

The VA asks the Court to “disregard ptirtions” of Perry’s opposition that “cite[] and
attack[] arguments” made by the Administration dgrthe administrative preedings. It argues
that, because review of Perry’s claimslésnovg the arguments made before the EEOC are
irrelevant and should not be considered. (Def.’s Reply to Pl.’s Opp’n [“Def.’s Reply”] at 4.)
The Court is, of course, “entitled to rely thre administrative recorid a case brought under
Title VII[.]” Townsend v. Mabug36 F. Supp. 2d 250, 253 (D.D.C. 2018ke also Brookens
v. Solis 635 F. Supp. 2d 1, 5 (D.D.C. 20qQ@he district court mayansider the administrative
record as evidence to be accorded whatexéght the court deems appropriate.”) (quoting

Weahkee v. Pernp87 F.2d 1256, 1263 (D.C. Cir. 1978)). Hoer it is black letter law that
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“lawyers’ arguments are not evidencesée United States v. Wils@40 F.3d 39, 45 (D.C. Cir.
2001). Perry cannot establish discriminatiorchiyng to lawyers’ arguments made at the
administrative level. These arguments aeglmissible and are not evidence against the VA.
I. THE VA'S OFFERED JUSTIFICATION

The VA argues that Lenox chose Murphy because she concluded that he was the “best-
gualified candidate.” (Def.’s Mot. at 10.) Adglifications-based jusication constitutes a
legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason” fibre allegedly discriminatory actiotdolcomb 433
F.3d at 896. In support of this claim, the Vifes Schettler’s ranking of Murphy as having the
“most technical expertise and relevanthkggound experience,” ltox’s experience with
Murphy and knowledge of his “understanding’tioé IT systems and his “experience and ability
to supervise employees in a virtual eoniment,” and the value Lenox placed on his “even
temperament” and “people skills.” (DefR4ot. at 10.) The VA also points to Murphy’s
experience working from a remote locatibrg military experience, and Lenox’s personal
evaluation of his “technical, supervigopand communications skills[.]"Id. at 10-11.) The VA
also argues that Lenox had a nondiscriminatory reason for choosing Murphy over Perry because
Perry received low scores from Schettler and the panel and had a supervisory style that was a
“bad fit.” (Id. at 11.) The VA’s qualifications-based justificaticare legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reasons for choosing Murphy d®erry. The Court will terefore turn to the
evidence submitted by Perry.
1. PERRY'’'S EVIDENCE OF PRETEXT AND DI SCRIMINATION

Perry attacks the VA's explanation figlurphy’s promotion and suggests that, by
establishing that this explanation is gedtial, she can enddlCourt’s inquiry. $ee, e.g.Pl.’s

Opp’n at 20-21.)The Court must assess Perry’s challetogine VA's explanation “in light of
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the total circumstances of the cas&ka v. Wash. Hosp. Ctr156 F.3d 1284, 1291 (D.C. Cir.
1998) (en banckeeping in mind that “[i]t is permissible for the trier of fact to infer the ultimate
fact of discrimination from the falsity of the employer’s explanatidRéeves v. Sanderson
Plumbing Prods., In¢530 U.S. 133, 147 (2000%ee also Fischbach v. Dist. of Columbia Dep’t
of Corr., 86 F.3d 1180, 1183 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (the Gmunquiry focuses on whether the VA
“honestly believes in theeasons it offers”). The Court addresse turn, Perry’s arguments that
(A) she was better qualified for the job; (Bgnox considered impermissible “subjective
factors”; (C) Lenox made discriminatory commetatdier; (D) procedurassues that Perry has
identified are evidence of pretext; (E) Lenoyermissibly considered factors beyond those
listed in the KSAOSs; (F) pressdtion occurred, and (G) statesdl evidence is reflective of
pretext.

A. Qualifications Gap

Perry can establish pretext if she can destrate that “a reasonable employer would
have found the plaintiff to be sigréfintly better qualified for the job.Aka 156 F.3d at 1294.

However, if the evidence does rabtow the “stark superiorityof plaintiff’'s credentials over
those of the successful” apitt, the Court will not infiepretext or discriminationMcintyre v.
Peters 460 F. Supp. 2d 125, 136 (D.D.C. 2006) (quostewart v. Ashcrgf852 F.3d 422, 429
(D.C. Cir. 2003)). Moreover, Perry’s “own selkfgeption of her credents&lare “irrelevant for
purposes of establishing discriminatory . . . condugalavera v. Fore648 F. Supp. 2d 118,
136 (D.D.C 2009)cev’d in part on other grounds by Talavera v. Sha@l1 WL 1120285, at

*7; accordWaterhousgl24 F. Supp. 2d at 7. Perry arguest 8he was the better choice for the

position because the panel awarded her a scatevds one point higher than Murphy’s, and

because, had Schettler graded her form approlyrisier “best qualified” score would have been
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slightly higher than Murphy’s. (Ps Opp’n at 25.) This is halglthe sort of “stark superiority”
that would allow a reasonable juror to infer thegance of discriminatiorPlaintiff has failed to
even come close to showing the sort of “widd amexplicable” gap in cplifications required for
the Court to infer discriminationSee Lathram v. Snow36 F.3d 1085, 1091 (D.C. Cir. 2003).
Therefore, there is no inferee of pretext on these grounds.

B. Subjectivity

Perry argues that the VA selected Murphyrdverry for subjective reasons, which this
Court should view skeptically. (B Opp’n at 17.) Although the Court treat®xplanations that
rely heavily on subjective consideratiomgh caution,” employers “may of coursake
subjective considerations into accoumtheir employment decisionsAka, 156 F.3d at 1298.
However, absent evidence that the subjectivemedyg of the selecting officer is inaccurate or
incorrect, a reasonabjigry cannot infer pretext from ¢huse of selective factor€arter, 387
F.3d at 879-80 (positive descripti of plaintiff's behaior from later interview was insufficient
to allow reasonable jury to infer that defendmstibjective claims wengretextual). Perry
neither presents affirmative evidence how that Lenox’s assessment was inaccurate or
incorrect, nor offers a “sufficiently concrete description” of her mamage style to counter
Lenox’s subjective judgment. Thus, a reasonable juror cdulot infer that Lenox’s reasons
were pretextual simply because sbekt subjective factors into account.

Moreover, the VA has submitted additional,extijve reasons to justify its decision.
Where “reliance” on subjective reasons “is maidand the employer has other, well-founded
reasons for the employment decision, summarymety for the defendant may be appropriate.”

Aka 156 F.3d at 1298. Here, in addition to subjedtigtifications such as “management style”

15 perry states, without explanation, that Lenox never directly supervised Perry. (Pl.'s Opp’nRiaBiiff does
not argue, however, that Lenox lacked direct knowledge of Perry, or that Lenox neededthp slipervise Perry in
order to judge her supervisory style.
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and “temperament,” Lenox presented more objeatdasons for selecting Murphy, such as the
high ranking he received from the subject matkgreet, his unique experiea, and his history of
military service. Thus, the subjectivity of sometlod VA'’s criteria does “not require a denial of
defendant’s motion."Bennett v. Soljs729 F. Supp. 2d 54, 67 (D.D.C. 2010) (agency entitled to
summary judgment despite subjective considerations where agency also presented “legitimate
and non-discriminatory reason’rfadverse employment action).

Perry argues that Lenox did rettually pay attention toumerical rankings or, indeed,
give them “much thought during the decisimaking process,” thus suggesting that her
references to the rankings is graual. (Pl.’s Opp’n at 19-20.This argument misrepresents the
record. Lenox testified that she “was lookingre numbers” and that she did not recall whether
she attached “significance” to small differences in scores between the candidates. (Lenox Dep.
at 137-38.) She neither said maplied that she didot “attach much importance to numerical
rankings.” Compare idwith Pl.’s Opp’n at 19.) Her depositidastimony is entirely consistent
with the memo setting forth her justificatis for selecting Murphy, in which she makes
references to where the candidates ranldbas not discuss thespective scores Séel.enox
Memo.)

Perry next argues that ifshvas not hired because of her ratings, then Murphy should
also have been disqualified. (Pl.’'s Opp’rL@t20.) Perry misreadsdh/A’s brief to suggest
that the entire basis for hiring Murphy angerting Perry were the scoring resultfd. @t 19.)
Plaintiff constructs an entiregument based on this faulty premise, arguing that Lenox’s method
of combining the scores from Isettler and the panel was “entiredpecious” and therefore could
support an inference of discriminatiorid.(at 20.) However, the VA never claimed that the

scores were the only reason Lenox selectedoiyuand did not select Perry. Rather, it
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introduced as evidence Lenox’s contemporaneseisiorandum which contains numerous other
justifications for selecting Murphy, including hegperience working from remote locations, his
military experience, and his strong leadershifiteds and “even temperament.” (Lenox Memo
at 2-3.) Perry lacked Murphy’s extensive milit@&xyperience and experience supervising remote
locations. Lenox also identifidélerry’s supervisory gle as being unsuited to the joldd.(at 2.)
Moreover, it is undisputed that panel rankedybelow Murphy. (Def.’s Mot., Ex. E.) Perry
“fails to identify any evidence from which aasonable jury could cohale” that the VA was
“substantively inaccurate or dishonest[]” in asserting that Lenox chose Murphy, in part, because
of the rankings.Pearsall v. Holder610 F. Supp. 2d 87, 101 (D.D.C. 2009).

Therefore, no reasonable juror could detemtirat Lenox’s reasongere pretextual on
the grounds that the final decisionsvaot based solely on the rankings.

C. Stray Remark

Perry argues that a single comment miagleenox to Perry during her performance
review meeting on December 9, 2005, three monéfisre Perry applied for the Chief of
Operations position, is ewtce of age discriminatidfi. (Pl.’s Opp'n at 5, 33.) The VA argues
that this is a “stray remark” thdbes not create a triable issual@crimination. (Def.’s Mot. at
20-21.) “[S]tray remarks,” even those made kguaervisor, are insufficient to create a triable
issue of discrimination where . they are unrelated to an ployment decision involving the
plaintiff.” Simms v. U.S. Gov't Printing Offic87 F. Supp. 2d 7, 9 n.2 (D.D.C. 200®ee also

Sewel] 532 F. Supp. 2d at 139 n.8. Perry claims thagmghe told Lenox that she planned to

% perry also suggests that Lenox’s alleged statemerfeé¢ngt was “in the position that was best suited to her
skills” is evidence of discrimination. (Pl.’s Opp’n at 33.) Even if this statement were meant to discourage Perry
from applying to be the Chief, plaintiff has failed to connect it to any sort of discronynaiotive. Moreover,

Perry herself testified that Lenox sdliils before either of them discussed the new job opening. (Pl.’s Opp’n, EX.
21, Agency’s Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. 1 at 93.) No reabbmjury could find that this statement could raise an
inference of discriminationSee Sewell v. Chab32 F. Supp. 2d 126, 139 n.8 (D.D.C. 2008) (where no “nexus”
exists between comments and the denishaking process, the comments do not support a discriminatory motive).
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apply to be Chief, Lenox asked her how maagrg she had until retirement. Lenox was the
ultimate decision-maker, and her statement was allegedly made in direct response to Perry
bringing up the job opening. However, the Court canrew this as evidence of discriminatory
animus.

First, this comment hardly sugge discrimination based on aggéee Shipman v. Vilsack
692 F. Supp. 2d 113, 118 & n.5 (D.D.C. 2010) (no enct of unlawful discriminatory intent
where supervisor madepeatednquiries about retirement plans)Ambiguous statements
cannot be stretched to mean whatevenesone wants them to mean . . Llicas v. Paige435
F. Supp. 2d 165, 171 (D.D.C. 2006) (Facciola, Mag.Sécond, at the time this statement was
made, Lenox was 52 years old anthember of the same protecteadss as Perry, (Pl.’s Opp’n,
Ex. 21, Agency’s Mot. for Summ. J., at 4), ialh “weighs further against an inference of
discrimination.” Kelly v. Mills, 677 F. Supp. 2d 206, 223 (D.D.C. 2010hus, Lenox’s single
statement, wrenched from its context, cannopsupan inference that she discriminated against
Perry based on adé.

D. SelectionProcess

Perry suggests that the VA’s explanatisipretext because Lenox and Schettler
“steer[ed] the position” to Murphy byeans of a “fishy” selection processd.(at 26, 36.) A
violation of protocol “may” be probative of tlmployer’s “true motivationif (1) the violation
is suspicious, in and of itse@owning v. Tapella729 F. Supp. 2d 88, 97-98 (D.D.C. 2010)
(citing Salazar v. Wash. Metro. Transit Ayth01 F.3d 504, 509 (D.C. Cir. 2005)), (2) the

agency “inexplicably departéfrom its normal procedureg]. (citing Lathram 336 F.3d at

" The VA also argues that a panel member’'s comman®terry had “been around a long time” is not evidence of
age discrimination. (Def.’s Mot. at 22 (citifigatty v. Wood204 F.3d 713, 716 (7th Cir. 2000)). Because Perry
does not respond to this argument, the Court will treat it as conc8eded-lopkins v. Women'’s DiGen. Bd. of
Global Ministries 284 F. Supp. 2d 15, 25 (D.D.C. 2003).
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1093), or (3) the violation inherentigises credibity questions.ld. (citing Mcintyre, 460 F.
Supp. 2d at 138). A violation does not, however, “cregier aeinference of a Title VII
violation.” Downing 729 F. Supp. 2d at 97 hus, an “overhaul” of selection criteria, carried
out by an employee who had already been fourht@ retaliated againglaintiff, did not
indicate pretext because (1) theedvaul itself affected all thepplicants equally and there was
no indication of discrimination ithe circumstances or text oftleriteria (and, tbrefore, there
was nothing inherently suspicious about theany (2) because it was not “so irregular or
inconsistent with” established paks (and, therefore, such an inegable departure) as to make
the defendant’s explanation “unworthy of belieSee Porter v. Shalb06 F.3d 809, 816 (D.C.
Cir. 2010) (internal quotation marks omitted). Twurt will first consider whether the alleged
violations of procedure weraherently suspicious, and it willeh address whether the agency
“inexplicably departed” fom its normal procedures.

1. Inherently Suspicious Violation Salazar)

In Salazar the plaintiff had askedsupervisor to select the members of his interview
panel because he believed that Lewis, anathpervisor, selected biased panel members in
order to discriminate against LatinaSalazar 401 F.3d at 506. The plaintiff had also filed a
grievance in the past against Leywalleging raciatliscrimination. Id. Nevertheless, Lewis was
allowed to chose one of the members of the lpame to help draft and assign weights to the
different interview questiondd. at 506-07. The Court also notéxt the candidate eventually
chosen by the panel never held the job, and was instead transferred to a lesser fgbsition.
509. The Court determined that, althoughas a “close call,” Leis’s “unexplained
participation” and the chosen candidate’s transfauld allow a reasonabjery to find that the

process was not “fairly designedhd that, therefore, the defendant’s explanation was pretextual.
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Id. Thus, althouglbalazarestablishes that thepecificprocess” used by an employer may
support a finding of pretext, it does not httdt mere irregularities alone will sufficéd.

As in Porter, and unlike irSalazar Perry has failed to present evidence that the changes
in procedure were inherently discriminatory. ridgidence that the sel&an process was “fishy”
largely derives from the testimony of RhkaiHoward, an employee in the VA’'s human
resources department. Howard testified thattsdd “never seen” a selecting official combine
scores or produce a selection memo, a®kelid, that failing to follow the panel’s
recommendation was unusual, and that she belithag Lenox’s failure to provide the panel
with application packages was “odd.Id.(at 26-28.) However, #re is nothing inherently
discriminatory in either the text of the memaithe various circumstances Howard describes.
Nor is there any hint that Lenox (or anyone éts@lved in the review process) had been
accused of discrimination in the past, no indicati@t Lenox “placed h[er]self squarely at the
center of a process designed to excludegl[hand no evidence that Lenox attempted to
improperly influence the pan#l. See Salaza#01 F.3d at 509. “[A]lthough plaintiff's evidence
may show the process to be imieet, her evidence is not sufficient to establish that defendant’s
proferred explanation is pretietal absent some actual esitte that defendant acted on a
motivation to discriminate against pi&iff based on her age, race or seffiver-Simon v.
Nicholson 384 F. Supp. 2d 298, 312 (D.D.C. 2005ee also Mason v. DaVita, In642 F.

Supp. 2d 21, 34 (D.D.C. 2008) (no reasonable jonlctfind discrimination despite allegations
that hiring process was “fishy” where “[n]othimgthe record intimates” that the process was
“tainted by race discrimination”). Thus, no readaegury could infer that the process was so

“inherently suspicious” as to r&sn inference of discrimination.

18 Although Perry filed an EEO complaint against Wagirapson in the mid 1990s (Perry Decl. ] 29), it is
uncontested that he played no role in the selection process, and thus, this issue is not 1Batefl's(Reply at
16-17 n.14.)
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2. Inconsistent With Established Policies

Furthermore, Perry has failed to establiskt ttenox’s acts were so inconsistent with
established policies as to make the VA’s exateom unworthy of belief. The source of this
doctrine isLathram v. Snowa D.C. Circuit case in which the U.S Customs Service inexplicably
decided to allow non-Customs employees to afiplyhe position of Press Director. 336 F.3d at
1092-93. At the same time, it refused to allben-Customs employees to apply for two other
directorships that were &ated at the same timél. As a result, a male applicant from outside
Treasury received a “veteran’s preference” aad chosen over the plaintiff to be Press
Director, though Lathram had received a perfect ratidg.The government submitted no
“evidence in the record” to explain why it chdseopen that specific pa®n while refusing to
do the same for the other directorghigvhich were also filled by mend. at 1094. The Circuit
found this “unexplained inconsistey” could justify an inference of discriminatory motiviel.
at 1093. Porter then clarifiedLathramby requiring any alleged inconsistencies to be “so
irregular . . . with . . . established policies astake [the agency’s] hiring explanation unworthy
of belief.” Porter, 606 F.3d at 816.

Perry has not satisfied thisst, since any “unexplainedcionsistenc|ies]” are not “so
irregular” as to make the VA'sxplanation unworthy of beliefSee Porter606 F.3d at 816.
Based on Howard'’s testimony, Perry arguesttinate are four “inconstencies”: 1) Lenox’s
decision to write a selection memo;Bnox’s decision not to follow the panel's
recommendation; 3) Lenox’s decision to comlsneres; and 4) Lenox’s decision not to provide
the panel with the applicath packages. (Howard Dep.1&0, 103, 108, 110). Lenox explained,
however, that she drafted the memorandum inrdadbetter explain a ‘&ry difficult decision”

and to explain why she was choosing a male ckatej as opposed to a female, Gina White, who
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was rated highest by the panel. (Lenox Defd.3840.) Moreover, Howard testified that

selecting officers do, on occasion, disregard panel recommendations (Howard Dep. at 108), and
Lenox has submitted numerous legitimate reasons for choosing Murphy rather than one of the
panel’'s recommended choices. Thus, unlike the ageriatimam Lenox has offered

explanations, under oath, for two of the actg ohwhich, according to Howard, is not even
particularly unusual. Perry has fzdl to undercut these explanationgh any contrary evidence.
Because these acts are not “inexplicable,” th@yot permit a reasonable jury to infer
discrimination without further evidence that losrwas actually “motivated by discrimination.”

See Downing729 F. Supp. 2d at 98.

Lenox has not, however, explained her failureravide applicatiopackets to the panel
members and her decision to combine the scores from the panel arittBsleetluations. But
these acts do not satidhprter because they were not “so irregtilas to make the agency’s
justification “unworthy ofbelief.” The plaintiff inLathramshowed that Customs had opened up
three directorships, kept two of the positiafssed to non-Customs employees, opened only the
position she had applied for (withoay explanation), and hired men to fill all three positions.
Lathram 336 F.3d at 1093. The “unusual” and “unexpda” acts here do not approach that
level of irregularity, for failing tqorovide application packets oombining evaluation scores do
not render the explanation tHdurphy was the most qualifiegplicant “unworthy of belief
See Hampton v. VilsacKiv. No. 07-2221, 2011 WL 108383, at *12 (D.D.C. Jan. 13, 2011)
(minor irregularities were “simply noheugh from which to reasably infer that” the

employer’s “true motivation for [ijgreatment of [plaintiff] was” discriminatory). Thus, because

¥ The Court need not consider whether Childs’ affidavit is admissible, because it establishes only that it was
“permissible” for Lenox to combithe scores of the subject matter expdtt e scores of the panel, and does not
address whether it was consistent with established procedures. (Def.’s Opp’n, Aff. of R. Siitdefi €3.) A

Court may infer pretext from “unexplained inconsistenc[ies]” without proof that the agency violated regulations.
See Lathram336 F.3d at 1094.
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Perry has also failed to introduce evidence thescttmination played any role in” these alleged
violations of agency procedures, thdzy not “implicate” Title VIl or the ADEA2° Downing
729 F. Supp. 2d at 98 (technical violations insigit where plaintiff introduced no evidence
that they were motivatelly discrimination).

E. Criteria Beyond KSAOs

Perry also argues that the VA’s explanatis pretextual because Lenox considered
factors that were not listed in the KSAOs.nb& offers Howard'’s testimony as evidence that
Lenox’s knowledge of Murphy’s capilities (Pl.’s Opp’n a28), his even temperameid.j, her
opportunities to observe his skilisl.(at 29), his status as a veteand her belief that Perry had
an unsuitable supervisory styld.(at 30) should have been ieeant because they were not
included in the description of the job requirensemt were otherwise “unfair.” The Court is
mindful that “Title VII . . . does not authorizeFederal court to become a ‘super-personnel
department that reexaminesaeattity’s business decisions[.]'Barbour v. Browner181 F.3d
1342, 1346 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (quotimple v. Chi. Trib. Cq.797 F.2d 458, 464 (7th Cir. 1986)).
See also Fischba¢cl®6 F.3d at 1183 (court may not “second-guess an employer’s personnel
decision absent demonstrably discriminatory motive”) (quaddiitpn v. Weinberger696 F.2d
94, 100 (D.C. Cir. 1982)). Moreover, as the Circuit has noted, “reasonable employers” are not
limited to a “mechanistic checkoff of qualificatiorequired by the written job descriptions.”
Jackson v. Gonzaled496 F.3d 703, 709 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (quotifNgg, 156 F.3d at 1297 n.15).
Thus, no inference of discrimination is raiselden an employer “base][s] its ultimate hiring
decision on one or more specific factors encasspd within a broadand more general job

description.” Jackson496 F.3d at 709. The jakescription provided by the VA notes that the

% Indeed, given that Murphy received the highest marks during Schettler’s review of the applications, he may have
suffered most from having his applica withheld from the panel, especiabigcause his interview skills, according
to Lenox, were not very strong. (Lenox Memo at 2.)
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Chief’'s responsibilities includeupervision of fifty-five employeesncluding “employees in five
remote processing sites.” (Def.’s Mot., Ex(“Aob Description”), at 2). Thus, Murphy’s
experience with remote locations and his superianagement style were clearly relevant
factors. Moreover, Lenox'selection memorandum also prdes uncontroverted reasons why
Murphy’s significant military experience was usefdlenox Memo at 1-3.) Because the factors
Lenox considered were encompassed indbeadgscription and weidearly useful to
performance of the job, Perry cannot owene summary judgmein this basis.

Perry also argues that it is “revealirgyid “very relevant” that Lenox only noted
Murphy’s military experience when oggparing him to Lewis and Whiteld( at 29-30.) But
Perry again has provided no evidence to contradinbx’s explanation that she did not view
Perry on the same level as Murphy, White, owise because of her management style and
overall low scores, and therefal& not need to take Perryisore limited military service (as
compared to Murphy’s) into account in making becision. (Lenox Memo at 3.) Moreover, as
noted above, Perry has failed to connect Lenootssitleration of militangervice to any kind of
discriminatory motive. Thus, no reasonablejwcould find that Lendsg failure to make
reference to Perry’s military recordlier selection memoranduindicates pretext.

F. Preselection

Perry argues that the VA's explanatiorpietextual because Murphy was Schettler’s
“right hand man” and was pre-selected forphsition. (Pl.’s Opp’rat 20-21.) Perry has
produced evidence suggesting that, in 200he8ler recommended Murphy for a jad.(at 26
n.10), that Schettler and Lendxought Murphy was valuable to the VA (Pl.’s Opp’n at 21, 23),
that Lenox selected Schettler to review goalified candidates knowing that Schettler and

Murphy had a close relationshiidl (at 21) and that Schettleongratulated Murphy on his
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promotion {d. at 25)** Plaintiff also alleged that Schettl®ld Perry that he did not score the
applications, when, in fact, he hadd.] Plaintiff also expends coiderable effort arguing that
Schettler improperly scored Pemyapplication, awarding hervieer points than she desen/éd.
(Id. at 22-25.)

In other words, Perry argues that, althoughe®tter was not the ultimate decision-maker,
he orchestrated the hiring ess in order to ensure titrphy, his chosen candidate, was
selected. (Pl.’s Opp’n at 21-25.) The Supr&oart recently held that an employer will be
liable for discrimination against the military where a supervisor “performs an act motivated by
antimilitary animus that isixtendedby the supervisor to cause ativerse employment action” if
“that act is a proximate cause of the ultimatgkayment action,” even if a different, “ultimate
decisionmaker[] exercisg[s. . judgment.” Staub v. Proctor Hosp131 S. Ct. 1186, 1192-94
(2011). Here, however, there is @adence that Schettler had atigcriminatory animus or bias
against Perry. Other than Schettler's innocumurgyratulatory e-matb Murphy, Perry’s only
“evidence” in support of her “cat’s paw” theory is her argument that she should have received
higher scores from Schettler. But Perry’s own subjective assessment of her performance is
irrelevant. Stoyanov v. Winte643 F. Supp. 2d 4, 14 (D.D.C. 200B¥lder v. Johannss95 F.
Supp. 2d 46, 70 (D.D.C. 2009). Nor is it clean its face” that Murphy’s responses were
inferior to Perry’s, so “it is not the Court’sgule to second-guess [Schettler]’'s preference for one
response over the otherChavers 667 F. Supp. 2d at 131 n.10. Therefore, her “cat’s paw”

theory fails.

2L perry argues that Lenox’s “good faith” is called intestion because, in an affidgWPerry claimed that Lenox
praised Murphy’s supervisory skills despite not supervikingin a management position. (Pl.’s Opp’n at 29.)
Even if Perry’s allegation were true, Lenox could easily have observed Murphy’s managghaaldssite not
being his formal supervisor. Perry’s self-servingestaint alone does not createissue of material fact.

2 perry does not argue that she received lower-than-@eseamkings because okdiimination. Rather, she
argues only that the rankings are evidence of Schettlias toward Murphy andherefore, that the VA’s
justifications are pretextualPl.’s Opp’n at 21-26.)

25



Plaintiff also argues that Lenox directly melected Murphy for the promotion, and that
the VA's offered explanation is therefore pretettu(Pl.s’ Opp’n at 21-33.) “Pre-selection,
regardless of its propriety, is only relevant tis thwsuit inasmuch gdaintiff can demonstrate
that the pre-selection itself was discriminatorily motivatelddwning 729 F. Supp. 2d at 97.
See also Kolstad v. Am. Dental As<89 F.3d 958, 969 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (“evidence of pre-
selection is relevant only insofas it logically supports an infaree of discriminatory intent”),
vacated on other grounds B27 U.S. 526 (1999). As this Court has previously noted, the D.C.
Circuit distinguishes between underlying claiafigliscrimination and allegations of pre-
selection that “do not dirflg suggest discrimination.Downing 729 F. Supp. 2d at 97
(collecting cases). This is especially true vehers here, “the seligan is to be made from
among a narrow band of current employaedi known to the selectors Kolstad 139 F.3d at
969. Perry argues that the “strange mahmewhich Lenox conducted the processgsupra
Part III.D, is evidence that bex was “steering” the positionward Murphy. (Pl.’s Opp’n at
26.) Again, however, because of Perry’s failir@roduce evidencedhlLenox’s decision was
“based on a motive prohibited by Title \dt ADEA, the conduct is not actionableQliver-
Simon 384 F. Supp. 2d at 310. Thus, the pre-sieleclaim does not “implicate Title VII.”
Downing 729 F. Supp. 2d at 98.

G. Statistical Evidence

Perry offers a conclusory statement by ohthe panel members that African-Americans
are underrepresented in management at the g evidence of tHéactors at play in
deciding who would be Chief,” presumably intkng for the Court to fier the existence of
discrimination on the basis of a segtjon of statistical evidencé€Pl.’s Opp’n at 33.) However,

evidence that consists solely of the “subjecipressions of current” employees provides “no
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basis from which the Court may dram inference of discriminatiof™” Simpson v. Leavit437
F. Supp. 2d 95, 104 (D.D.C. 2006). Pgrrgvides no other information that would allow the
Court to determine whether the Agency “emplédygcan-Americans at rates significantly below
their number in the applicapbol or general population.ld. Thus, this statement does not
allow the Court to infer thpresence of discrimination.
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, defendantstiamfor summary judgment [Dkt. No. 24] is

granted. An Order consistent with this Memmadam Opinion is also being issued this date.
Is

ELLEN SEGAL HUVELLE
United States District Judge

Date: May 10, 2011

2 Although Perry has attached a summary of an EEO report on the National Cemetery Adiminéstran exhibit,
she does not cite to it as evidence of discrimination ifbhef. Indeed, the report ggests that “promotions are
roughly proportionate to the representation in the leagepibpeline of grades 13-15 and in grades 3-12 with the
exception of Asian men.” (Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 27, EEO Report, at 12.)
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